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Bill M. Welch, President and Chief Executive Officer, Nevada 

Hospital Association 
 
CHAIR HORSFORD:  
The Senate Committee on Health and Education subcommittee is meeting on 
Senate Bill (S.B.) 157. 
 
SENATE BILL 157: Limits the amount that certain hospitals and physicians may 

charge for the provision of certain services and care. (BDR 40-808) 
 
SENATOR STEVEN A. HORSFORD (Clark County Senatorial District No. 4): 
I have prepared a concept paper to frame the discussion we need to have on 
this bill (Exhibit C). Senator Washington and I were serving in the 73rd Session 
of the Legislature when this issue first came before us. It almost reached a 
consensus, but it broke down at the end. It is my belief that we need to do 
something now. The bill as originally written does not address all aspects fairly. 
I suggest we have a discussion on the parameters listed on the document just 
distributed, Exhibit C. 
 
There are four tenets to the policy, and I ask you to review the document, 
Exhibit C. If you would like to provide reaction or comment to it today, that is a 
good place to start. If you would like to digest it, get input from others and 
bring your comments to the next subcommittee meeting on Tuesday, April 7, 
2009, that is also good. At that next subcommittee meeting, after we have 
been able to get feedback from individuals, we will work out the specific details. 
 
As I stated the other day during earlier testimony on the bill, my viewpoint on 
this issue is from the patient’s perspective. Ultimately, if we reach a solution, 
we need a solution that works first and foremost for the patient. There needs to 
be a balance between the patient’s responsibility and the responsibilities of the 
health payers and the health-care providers. Based on the testimony we heard 
previously, there needs to be improved health-payer responsibility. We also need 
the health-care providers to come up with ideas and recommendations on ways 
they can contribute to a solution. 
 
While I am not going to read the document, Exhibit C, in it I have framed what 
I consider to be the parameters of a solution, if we are to reach one. 
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SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
A bill, Assembly Bill No. 296 of the 73rd Session, was first introduced by 
former Assemblywoman Ellen M. Koivisto. The bill was submitted to the 
full committee, and after some lengthy testimony, it went to a subcommittee. 
There were many players involved in providing or delivering health care to 
patients. There were the hospitals, the physicians, the emergency medical 
technicians and the first emergency responders, as well as the 
insurance companies, including the large groups that make the discounts to 
those particular individuals who participate in our health-care system. 
 
In my handout, there are six points I would like on the record and like us to 
address as we work our way through this issue (Exhibit D). This concept was 
first introduced as an insurance contracting issue. I quote part of 
Assemblywoman Koivisto’s testimony, “The intent of the bill is to address those 
individuals with insurance who end up paying billed charges through no fault of 
their own because of contracting issues.” I still foresee this as a 
contracting issue. This is my number one point. 
 
Point number two deals with the protocols. While treatment protocols limit 
patient choice, they only impact the most urgent patients. The vast majority of 
individuals who present in emergency rooms do not have urgent illnesses. Most 
of the protocols apply to urgent matters, and they are usually about 5 percent. 
 
The third point is where the insurer contracts with one hospital and with 
one physician in the State to receive these benefits. With emergency care 
one of the largest areas of cost for insurers, how will regulating the cost for 
these most expensive services impact future contracting? What will be the 
impact of contracting with these particular individuals or stakeholders in the 
future? Is there a trust factor involved? Will the trust factor be broken? 
Will there be complete trust among all the individuals involved in ensuring not 
only access but also quality and safe care to the patient? 
 
The fourth point is that the University Medical Center (UMC) is excluded. 
Are the billed charges there any less than at any other hospital in the State? 
Why was UMC excluded in this particular bill? 
 
The fifth point is about the amount of billed charges for the emergency care and 
services and any other services and care the patient receives before being 
transferred. What are the additional billed charges after the patient has been 
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stabilized? What other services have been provided? What other charges are 
being billed for those services in excess of emergency services? A member of 
that 2005 subcommittee, former Senator Joseph “Joe” J. Heck, testified then 
that “Usually the emergency services are taken care of within the first 24 hours. 
It is the additional costs of services we are concerned about.” If the patient is 
usually stabilized within the first 24 hours, what I am concerned about as well 
are the charges for the additional services. 
 
My sixth and last point is the setting of rates by legislation. Doing this does not 
take into account the overall cost of providing care to patients who have 
insurance and benefits from volume-discounted contracted rates and the 
caring for patients who have no payment source. While hospitals receive some 
reimbursement through the disproportionate-share hospital program (DSH), for 
the most part that only covers a small portion of the uncompensated care 
most hospitals have to endure. 
 
I am still not of the volition that S.B. 157 is necessary, but I am open to hear 
from the stakeholders and participants who will be testifying before 
this subcommittee. 
 
CHAIR HORSFORD: 
I have conferred with the Chair of the Senate Committee on Health and 
Education, Senator Valerie Wiener, on this matter. To clarify, S.B. 157 as 
originally written is not adequate. The discussion we would like to have in this 
subcommittee is on those issues presented in the two documents, Exhibit C 
and Exhibit D. 
 
SCOTT CRAIGIE (Nevada American College of Emergency Physicians): 
The group assembled here wants what everybody needs. This is an issue that 
has been raised by a piece of proposed legislation on which we all need to focus 
and identify those components we can put into legislation. The opening remarks 
by the subcommittee members show a good-faith effort. We have come 
prepared specifically to address several points in the proposed bill, but based on 
the comments you have made and since this process is now more open and 
more flexible, how would you like us to proceed? 
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SENATOR HORSFORD: 
I prefer not to go over the original bill. We would like to hear comments that 
are germane to the policy issues around billed charges and the impact on the 
physician community, the hospitals and the insurance companies. 
 
MR. CRAIGIE: 
Those who testify will give you their top concerns. Each of them is very 
concerned about what is happening to their patients and how their patients will 
be affected by some of the changes being proposed. 
 
CURTIS BROWN, M.D., FACEP (President-elect, Nevada Chapter, American College 

of Emergency Physicians; Member, Northern Nevada 
Emergency Physicians): 

In my prepared testimony, I will express that I am very worried about the 
emergency medical safety net in Nevada (Exhibit E). I have been in practice in 
Nevada for 18 years. Emergency medicine plays a crucial role in our health-care 
system. Not only do emergency departments provide emergency care in 
critical situations, but they also serve as the health-care safety net for anyone 
who cannot access health care elsewhere. 
 
The Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act (EMTALA) ensures that 
every emergency department patient, regardless of insurance status or ability 
to pay, will be examined and stabilized as needed. The volume of patients we 
see includes the following: In 2008, the Regional Emergency Medical Services 
Authority (REMSA), the ambulance provider for the general area of 
Washoe County, transported over 35,000 patients by ground or air ambulance. 
Our group, the Northern Nevada Emergency Physicians (NNEP) sees over 
100,000 patients each year in the 3 hospitals for which we provide care. 
Almost 30 percent of those patients are uninsured. This translates to 
over 27,000 uninsured patients treated by NNEP. Over the past 10 years, that 
totals to roughly 250,000 patients. 
 
In 2009, the American College of Emergency Physicians published “The 
National Report Card on the State of Emergency Medicine in the Nation.” I have 
provided you with a copy of Nevada’s report card (Exhibit F, original is on file in 
the Research Library). The grade Nevada received was a dismal “D.” One aspect 
contributing to this grade was an “F” in access to emergency care. Some 
subspecialty “call coverage” sheets from around the State are on 
pages 10 through 15 of Exhibit F. In the spaces where it says “open,” that 
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means there was no physician available in that subspecialty. Patients needing 
those services must be transferred to a facility nearby or out of state to 
San Francisco or Salt Lake City. These call sheets are not going to get better; 
they are going to get worse if things are not taken care of appropriately in 
the Legislature. 
 
Many of the hospitals in our two largest population centers have trouble 
providing even some of the basic emergency needs for their patients. This 
results in costly and time-delaying transfers to other hospitals. The problem is 
even greater for the rural hospitals. The transport protocols for REMSA are 
on pages 5 through 9 of Exhibit F. At the top of page 6, under the heading 
Patient/Family Choice, it says, “Patient/family choice should dictate 
hospital destination unless the patient is excluded due to clinical conditions 
defined below or hospital divert.” On pages 6 through 8, I have underlined 
portions of the protocols that state in most cases there is patient/family choice. 
It is not uncommon for patients to request transport to a hospital they know 
does not take their insurance. 
 
For the most part, subspecialists do not like to cover emergency department 
cases for a variety of reasons. Many of them have no obligation to provide 
emergency care, yet many of them do. I foretell we will see fewer physicians 
responding to the needs of our patients as they are dropping their 
emergency department insurance coverage. This will only increase the number 
of transfers between hospitals, cities and states. In turn, this will drive the 
overall cost of health care up and increase time delays to definitive care for 
emergency patients. This could lead to devastating outcomes. 
 
I commend you on your work to make the system better. It is not an easy 
endeavor on which you have embarked. 
 
DAVID STRULL, M.D. (Director, Carson Tahoe Emergency Physicians): 
I have practiced in the emergency department in Carson City for 24 years. For 
the past 20 years, I have managed the Carson Tahoe Emergency Physicians 
(CTEP). I have prepared some remarks, but I am not going to go through all of 
them, because I sense you are opening the process and taking another look at it 
(Exhibit G). I am very glad to see it. 
 
I want to give you some background as to a serious problem that was in the 
original S.B. 157. We are talking about the health-care safety net, which is 
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something any one of us in this room could need at any time. It is a very 
fragile system. It operates under EMTALA, which means we see everyone who 
comes through the door, and this is an unfunded mandate. 
 
Our practice, CTEP, is contracted with the vast majority of health plans whose 
members use our services. When we negotiate with those plans, we generally 
have been successful. That is because when I negotiate with those plans, I do 
not do it from a standpoint of how much money I can make or how much I can 
charge. I look at my costs. I sit down with those plans, and I tell them, “This is 
the best rate I can give you to staff the emergency room with physicians and 
cover my costs.” Since every practice is different, when you have legislation 
that sets our rates and when our ability to negotiate a contract with the payers 
is taken away, that is unfair to both parties. The ability to staff our 
emergency rooms is what is needed for us to provide the health-care safety net. 
 
None of us want patients with a crisis to realize there is a big gap in their 
coverage. When you take a particular situation and paint all situations with a 
broad brush, and then say, “This is the rate that can be charged,” to protect the 
few who are falling through the cracks, realistically the entire health-care 
safety net is being threatened. 
 
Emergency physicians have a mobility that other physicians do not share, and 
they see patients the first day of their practice. If emergency room physicians 
find one state that has better working conditions than another one or if it is a 
better place for them to practice, it is easy for them to move. Even under the 
best of circumstances, it takes me over six months to bring a physician on 
board. When you have a practice that requires you to be available 24 hours a 
day and often provide multiple physicians on call, if a few physicians leave the 
practice, it can overwhelm the physicians who stay. This worrisome scenario 
could play out faster than it can be remedied. 
 
I applaud you for taking another look at S.B. 157. No doubt this proposed 
legislation was crafted by people who had protecting the patients in mind. There 
are solutions that can do that as well as protecting the health-care safety net. 
We ask you, as Legislators, to do what is asked of us—“Do no harm.” 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
About your contracting process, explain to us about those plans with which you 
have a contract. For example, when someone is treated by your practice, is 



Subcommittee of the Senate Committee on Health and Education 
April 3, 2009 
Page 8 
 
there a way for you to work out payment if that person is insured but not 
contracted with you? Would that be reasonable, based on the other contracts 
you have in place? 
 
DR. STRULL: 
You might think there is a huge delta between billed charges and contracted 
rates. In our practice, there is not a big delta. The most common visit we bill is 
a Level III. The charge for that visit is $260. The bill goes to the 
noncontracted payer. It is up to that payer how much they are going to pay us 
and that determines what remains for the patient to pay. I have a lot of cases 
where the payer pays the entire bill. I have had some where payers pay us way 
below our contracted rates and leave the patient to pay the balance. I have 
handled those cases in a couple of ways. One is I ask the patient to have their 
employer contact me, and the other is if the patient is in financial hardship, 
I write the charge off. 
 
The other things that can get lost in this mix are the deductibles and the 
co-pays. We are in a unique situation in that regard because we see patients on 
demand time and time again. If the patient has a $500 deductible and my bill is 
$260 and if the insurer/payer pays nothing, it is the patient’s responsibility to 
pay that $260 bill. In our practice, of all the co-pays and the deductibles, 
I collect about 50 percent of them. If that patient does not pay the bill and 
comes back three weeks later, what happens? He gets treated the same as 
everyone else. I have no knowledge about which patients pay their bills and 
which patients do not. We have a billing company that handles the billing for 
our 34,000 patients’ visits a year. We just take care of people. We are the 
doctors that do not say “no.” We take care of patients first and worry about 
getting paid last—24 hours a day. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
I have two observations about, and some experience, with this. The way you 
work with those people who fall through the cracks is the exception, not the 
rule. My constituents tell me they are not handled in that same manner, so that 
is part of the challenge for us. We have to set the public policy that can be 
applied in all cases. Physicians do a great job of providing service to patients, 
but meanwhile, because someone is not paying, the charges go up, and they 
end up getting spread on everyone. That is where I am coming from with this 
shared responsibility of patient, physician and insurance provider working 
together to address the issues that are constant in our health-care system. 
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The physician community has a role to play in understanding what it could do to 
get payment, so those payments do not get passed on. Someone is paying. 
You may write it off, but in some other instances, it is billed to the taxpayer, 
to uncompensated care or to some other place. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
I understand there are several levels to stabilizing a patient. When the patient 
first enters the emergency room, you are the first responder, the first doctor the 
patient sees; are you not? 
 
DR. STRULL: 
That is correct. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
At that point, an assessment is performed to determine the type, level and 
acuity of the injury or condition. Where in that process does the $260 charge 
come into play? 
 
DR. STRULL: 
We see every patient that comes in the door. Whatever services we provide are 
billed on the range of services we provide. In a large number of cases, we may 
be the only physicians who see the patient. The patient may have a problem 
which requires a specialist later, but the patient can be treated and released. 
Approximately 20 percent of our patients have serious enough problems to be 
admitted to the hospital. We are the first line for patients—24 hours a day with 
multiple providers available during our peak periods. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Once the injury or condition has been assessed and the patient is recommended 
to a specialist or for additional treatment and that happens, at that point, there 
is another set of billed charges, is that correct? 
 
DR. STRULL: 
After I stabilize the patient, if that patient requires surgery or must see another 
physician, “yes,” there will be additional charges. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
When do you determine whether or not the patient has insurance? 
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DR. STRULL: 
Emergency care is all EMTALA-based care which means the patient gets 
treated first. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Right, but after you have stabilized them, does the person doing the 
intake process determine whether or not that patient has insurance? 
 
DR. STRULL: 
Our patients are coming in with emergencies. They are getting treated first, and 
no one is looking at their insurance or finding out if they are uninsured. That is 
what EMTALA is about. Before EMTALA, if you went to a private hospital, they 
might look at your insurance, and they could say they would not treat you. That 
has changed. Now, the physicians take care of the patient first, and we do not 
look at whether or not the patient is insured. 
 
If someone does not need emergency surgery, we would have the luxury of 
time to check their insurance and get a provider for them. I am fortunate that 
my colleague, Dr. Joseph Walls, is available for emergency surgeries, and he 
does not look at whether or not the patient is insured either. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
The only reason I am asking is because I know there are certain steps or 
procedures for those who walk into the emergency room. There is an 
intake process and that intake process inquires as to whether or not the patient 
has insurance. Then, there are those who are being transported to the 
emergency room when EMTALA kicks in. 
 
DR. STRULL: 
Even when patients walk into the emergency room, it is treatment 
first. Everyone gets treatment first, and everybody gets taken care of. You can 
walk in uninsured with an earache. Now, is that an emergency? The bottom line 
is, you will be taken care of, because I do not know if that earache, 
if untreated, is going to turn into meningitis. Under EMTALA, it says we are to 
do a medical screening examination. We could do that, but we treat everyone, 
and we treat them to the fullest. We do not say, “You have an earache, but you 
do not have insurance, so it is not an emergency yet. Come back when you 
have meningitis.” We treat them then and there. 
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SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
I want to step through the process. First, the access is there because of 
EMTALA. You have to provide the service no matter what the condition may be. 
Second, the acuity of the condition determines whether or not you call in 
someone else who specializes in certain procedures. Then, when the patient is 
stabilized, is admitted to the hospital or becomes an outpatient, eventually there 
are billed charges. Those hospital and/or specialist billed charges will reflect 
contracted charges versus billed charges. 
 
We have a list of charges from last Session for one emergency visit that we are 
going through and trying to break out those charges. We are looking specifically 
at the uncompensated cost which is spread based on indigents that access the 
hospital and various DSH payments. I want to make sure as we deal with this 
issue that we are not trying to negate access, quality or safety. However, 
somewhere down the line, there are contractual issues that come into play. 
That may be the physician that has a specialty, or it may be your costs that 
may be above 200 percent of Medicare versus the hospital’s costs. 
 
DR. STRULL: 
If I could tell you what the solution is, I would. I will appreciate the opportunity 
to counsel with colleagues and bring something back to the table. There are 
two things that should be done with this legislation. The first is to protect the 
patient, and the second is to protect the health-care safety net. If you try to 
protect one patient at the expense of the health-care safety net, you are not 
protecting the patient, because the health-care safety net may not be there. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Absolutely, balance is important. 
 
JOSEPH WALLS, M.D. (Capitol Orthopedics): 
I am an orthopedic surgeon in private practice in Carson City for 17 years and 
1 of only 5 orthopedic surgeons who cover Carson Tahoe Regional Medical 
Center’s emergency room. As I give my prepared testimony, I would like to tell 
you how this medical-care system started (Exhibit H). 
 
Years ago when a patient required treatment from a doctor, the services were 
provided, and the patient paid the bill. It was a simple, two-party system. It is 
similar to any other business where a service is provided, and the billed charges 
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are paid. This two-party system is still used by accountants, supermarkets, 
carpenters and lawyers. 
 
DR. WALLS: 
In medicine, the first change occurred and things became more complicated 
when the insurance company became the payer. That created a three-party 
system where the patient received services, the doctor continued to provide the 
services, and the insurance company paid the billed charges. 
 
The second change occurred when insurance became more prevalent. The 
insurance industry proposed the idea of a reduced payment to the doctor. 
Perhaps they would pay 90 percent of billed charges. The idea was that the 
insurance company would direct more patients to the doctor if the doctor would 
accept the lower payment for each service. Doctors accepted this concept 
because it was a “win-win-win” situation that abided by the laws of 
contracting. The patient received the required care; the doctor treated more 
patients, and the insurance company paid a slightly reduced fee for 
each service. There was a contracting incentive for all parties to participate. 
 
The third change occurred as the insurance industry gradually lowered the 
contract rates offered to doctors. After multiple reductions in payments, some 
doctors rejected the lower rates, and therefore, they lost the benefit of treating 
more patients. On the other side of the contracting table, the 
insurance company lost the benefit of paying a rate that was less than billed 
charges. Since there was no contract to pay less, the insurance company had to 
pay the doctor’s regular fee. The patient was not affected because the patient 
received the treatment, and the patient’s insurance company paid the bill. 
At this point, no one was complaining to Legislators. 
 
The fourth change was imposed by the insurance industry and was the most 
problematic, because it was a financial “slight of hand.” The insurance industry 
unilaterally decided they would only pay a rate which they would call 
“usual and customary.” The insurance companies ignored the basic rules of 
contracting. Rather than pay the noncontracted doctor the billed amount, as 
they were obligated to do, they shifted that financial responsibility to the 
patient. The insurance company paid the usual and customary rate whether 
there was a contract or not. They required the patient to pay the difference 
between this new low rate and the billed amount. The amount the 
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insurance company shifted to the patient increased as the insurance company 
decreased the amount they considered usual and customary. 
 
DR. WALLS: 
In what other business can a company decide they will pay a contract rate 
where there is no contract? With this sleight of hand, the insurance companies 
created a “win or no lose” situation for themselves and a “lose” situation for 
their patients. This financial sleight of hand started complaints to Legislators. 
However, rather than complain about the insurance company, the patients 
complained about the doctors. After all, it was the doctors who were charging 
an amount greater than usual and customary. The patients did not understand 
that the usual and customary rate was adopted by the insurance company after 
years of contract deflation. 
 
It is ironic that the insurance industry has changed the rules of contracting in a 
manner that favors them and creates a problem for doctors, patients and 
Legislators. Now they come before you in an effort to change the rules of 
contracting once again. If S.B. 157 were directed at lawyers, accountants, 
electricians or architects, can you imagine it would seriously be considered? 
 
The question that has been asked during other hearings is, “Why is the doctor 
asking to be paid his regular fee?” The questions that should be asked are, 
“Why is the insurance company paying the doctor less than his regular fee 
when they have no contract to do so,” and “why are they shifting the 
difference to the patients?” 
 
The appropriate legislation that should be before you would disallow the 
insurance industry from shifting their financial responsibility to the patient. Such 
a bill would have three effects: It would return the insurance industry to the 
basic tenet of contracting by which all other businesses must abide; it would 
again encourage insurance companies to contract with doctors and hospitals in 
good faith—not the “here it is, take it or leave it” kind—, and it would return us 
to the earlier win-win-win situation. 
 
There are other major problems with S.B. 157. It is based on Medicare. 
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SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Before you continue, we are not debating that, because we are opening the 
process. I prefer that we do not go into that because we are trying to come up 
with other ideas. 
 
DR. WALLS: 
That is fine. There was a New York Times article this week with the headline, 
“Senator Investigates Health Insurers Out-of-Network Rate Practices,” and 
I quote: 

Senator John D. Rockefeller IV, the West Virginia Democrat who is 
chairman of the committee on commerce, is holding hearings on 
whether health insurers have systematically short-changed patients 
when they use doctors outside of the health plan’s network. … 
The companies are accused of underpaying consumers by hundreds 
of millions of dollars … . Insurance companies are part of 
everybody’s frustration in terms of health care, said 
Senator Rockefeller. … Insurers typically reimburse for only 70 to 
80 percent of the ‘reasonable and customary’ cost of 
medical services when they go to an out-of-network doctor. So if 
the insurer understates the prevailing market rate for those 
services, the patient is short-changed. … This was a big 
national problem, and it wasn’t attacked by anyone, said 
Charles Bell, the programs director for Consumers Union, who 
testified during the hearing last week. 
 

As one of the five orthopedic surgeons who covers the emergency room in the 
Carson City area, I would not like to see anything discourage my 
fellow surgeons who take a lot of time out of their regular practices to serve 
this community. It is a fragile call system, and I fear any legislation that might 
tip it. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
You hit on an important element which is cost. From a physician’s side, can you 
explain to us what the process is and if there are any procedures or protocols 
for how billed charges are derived? And, does that vary when you have a 
patient who is contracted versus one who is not? 
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DR. WALLS: 
When I came to town 17 years ago and joined a practice, I assumed their 
billed charges. Since then, I have used a resource called Ingenix to find out 
what the current billed rates are across the country, and I put mine in the middle 
of those rates. I have recently found out that Ingenix is owned by 
UnitedHealthcare, so I might have been duped when I looked at that resource. 
However, I have not raised my rates in years, and it is doubtful that the majority 
of doctors have. Usually, there is no reason to do so as most people do not pay 
that rate anyway. Most doctors want to contract. The only thing that stops us 
from contracting is when the insurance company keeps lowering the rate 
each year. I have probably only turned down three or four contracts in the past 
four or five years as, most of the time, we can come to an agreement. But 
when you get a contract that says, “Here is your rate, and if you do not like it, 
consider this a termination letter,” you are at a disadvantage. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
If you know a patient is not covered by an insurer or payer with whom you are 
contracted, are you aware of situations where physicians increase their 
billed charges in order to get paid for their services what they feel they should 
be paid? Are there protocols and procedures to prevent that sort of activity 
from happening? 
 
DR. WALLS: 
I know of no practice like that. I do not even know what my 
competitors charge. What we do usually is Dr. Strull calls us. We take the 
patient to the operating room and “fix” them. We send the billing sheet, which 
is the patient’s insurance information, to our biller, and the biller sends out a 
fee. The fee depends on what we did. We charge one fee for a procedure for 
everyone, whether you are insured or not, and whether you are Medicare or not. 
Usually, it is ignored because we have a contract that pays lower. Some of our 
insurance contracts say that you must charge the same fee to everyone. 
No, I do not know of anyone who raises their fee for that purpose. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Do you have discounted fees for those with whom you have contracts? 
 
DR. WALLS: 
I do not have discounted fees; I accept a discounted payment. They see 
the same fee as everyone else sees. The insurer then discounts the 
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same amount—maybe 80 percent and that gives the patient 20 percent to pay. 
The fee I set for each procedure is the same for everyone. 
 
MR. CRAIGIE: 
Our preparation today was driven by the contents of S.B. 157 rather than by 
the direction and offer you made today. We all have the opportunity now to 
look at all these issues. We can walk through how these systems work to see 
how to make this come together, if you would like us to. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
We want to hear from other people, too, who want to help in this process. 
 
MR. CRAIGIE: 
Our group will hit the high points today. Then, we will go back to look at this 
from a totally different perspective without referring to the material in the 
bill itself. We will bring a package back, so we can have a different kind 
of dialogue. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
We accept that offer. Going through today’s earlier testimony, I am sensing 
there is a set process or a procedure when a patient enters the 
emergency room. That process goes from the assessment by the 
emergency doctor, who determines the acuity of the injury or illness to 
determining whether or not the patient needs additional procedures, becomes an 
inpatient or becomes an outpatient. During this process, billed charges 
are accumulated. 
 
I had almost forgotten about the term “usual and customary” that we talked 
about last Session until Dr. Walls reminded us of it. I want to know what the 
payer mix is not only for the physician, but also for the payer, the 
insurance company or the insurer. How many are buying policies? What are 
their premiums, their Medicaid and Medicare mix? How do they derive those 
usual and customary charges? 
 
MR. CRAIGIE: 
That is a good assignment for us. We will put that on the list. 
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MYRON GOMEZ, M.D. (Chief of Trauma Surgery, Renown Regional 

Medical Center): 
I am a physician and surgeon specializing in general vascular and chest surgery, 
and I have been chief of trauma surgery at Renown Regional Medical Center 
(Renown) in Reno for 20 years. I coordinate the full range of surgeries at 
Renown, and surprisingly, the majority of my time is not spent keeping the 
peace between those famously large surgeon egos. My time is spent convincing 
them that they should continue to take emergency department call. That sounds 
like a broad statement, but it is important for you to know just how much 
pressure there is under this system. 
 
The average age of surgeons in America is 55. Their experience is nice to 
have around, but the problem is we may not be a renewable resource. I am 
also a clinical professor at the University of Nevada School of Medicine, and 
I can assure you that the medical students are as smart as ever. The problem is 
they are not choosing careers in surgery. For Generation X, the work is 
simply too hard for the money. It sounds like a lot of money when you put it on 
paper, but when you consider it includes working nights, weekends and 
holidays—the bigger the holiday, the bigger the commitment—it is not. 
The trauma fellowships are simply not filling. 
 
It is a constant battle to keep subspecialty surgeons on the call roster. 
And EMTALA will not protect us in this situation. The reason for that is we can 
only accept the patient if we have the subspecialist to cover the problem. At the 
previous hearing, I heard some false assumptions about our trauma system. 
One is that UMC is the only safety-net hospital in Nevada. Renown is the 
safety-net hospital in the north, and we have to remember that. Our system 
accepts 85,000 emergency department visits a year from all over—from half the 
State essentially. The demands on the system are substantial, and I assure you 
the payer mix is not that great. Certainly our emergency systems are important. 
In considering any legislation, it is important to remember these broader issues. 
 
KAREN MASSEY (Executive Director, Northern Nevada Emergency Physicians): 
I am the administrator of the NNEP and the nonphysician testifying before 
you today. My undergraduate degree is in economics, and my master’s degree 
is in health-care administration. Our group is comprised of 44 board-certified 
emergency physicians. We staff 18 shifts a day. It is difficult to get us all 
together because many of them are working, but about half of them were here 
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for the previous hearing. Their presence indicates what an important issue this 
is to us. 
 
Given the new direction you have given us, I will digress from my prepared 
testimony (Exhibit I). Instead, I will bullet point our perspective on how we 
might get there, and mention the things we hope to solve with a good solution. 
The first thing I had written down was “unintended consequences” which is 
what has driven us to this point. The first two bullet points I had were both 
access issues. You have heard about that today, so I will only frame it in terms 
of two subsets to the access issue. 
 

· One is the subspecialty care which is part of the continuum of care that 
people often require when they come to an emergency department in an 
emergency situation. 

· Two is the recruitment for emergency physicians. It makes the 
emergency department and emergency care a difficult place to work the 
more onerous it becomes. 

· Three is the patient being in the middle. We have those communications 
with our patients, too, when those situations do arise. Those situations 
are difficult for those of us who chose to work in health care even on the 
business end. We all want to see that patients are well-taken care of and 
want to have them move through the insurance process well. 

· Four is the variation among specialists. Earlier we heard about 
Level III being the most common evaluation and management code—we 
call them emergency evaluation codes. There are five levels and 
the Level III is also our most common code. In our practice that charge 
is $259. 

 
I recommend a book written by Paul Starr titled, The Social Transformation of 
American Medicine. It talks about the evolution of Medicare, and one of the 
provisions is a fee schedule that has to be the same for all patients a 
physician sees. We are specific when we talk about fees and charges being 
different from contracted rates. Everyone does get the same fee or billed 
charge. It is part of Medicare statutes. 
 

· The last point is fairness in contracting. We would love to get there in 
contract negotiations. It is frustrating for us when we try to work with an 
insurer that has a national rate which they use for our specialty. It is 
worse when it is not open for conversation. Those are the times we are 
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not able to get there with insurers. It is nice to now have a focus on 
that dialogue. 

 
I look forward to having the opportunity to work with you on these issues. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Drawing from your business background, do you have any thoughts on the 
following example? Someone is transported to an emergency room in a 
contracted hospital, but the physician is not contracted, and the physician’s 
billed charges are not at the negotiated rate; what happens? 
 
MS. MASSEY: 
If the hospital is contracted, they have the opportunity to negotiate their rate. 
If the physician is not contracted, they have either not had the opportunity or 
been able to arrive at an agreement on the rate. That is a frustrating experience 
that can happen sometimes. The other frustration we have sometimes is trying 
to work with those patients. We can discount our bill, which we often do, but 
we absolutely do not have the ability to enter into the relationship that exists 
between the patient and their insurer. If the insurer has chosen to recognize that 
the patient is out-of-network because a contract does not exist, we are not in a 
position to influence that either. Sometimes they remain out-of-network and 
that delta we have spoken about remains. There are a lot of complicated issues 
around this. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
When I referred to A.B. No. 296 of the 73rd Session earlier in this meeting, 
I mentioned that this all has to do with contracted issues. You have alluded to 
the fact that there is a contracted rate between the physician and the hospital 
and between the hospital and the insurer or the provider. If the physician does 
not have a contract with the hospital, then you are really not obligated, nor can 
you intercede on the patient’s behalf, can you? 
 
MS. MASSEY: 
In an ideal situation, the hospital and the physician each have an independent 
contractual relationship with the insurer. Typically, the physician’s relationship 
with the hospital is that of staff privileges, or it may be greater than that, 
depending on the physician’s role. 
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SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
With that understanding, would you surmise it is the obligation of this 
Legislative body to set parameters for contracts or negotiated contracts 
between providers and insurers on behalf of the patient? 
 
MS. MASSEY: 
My personal opinion is we have a lot of great contracts that we work hard to 
get, and they are valuable to us. They are our insured partners, and we spend a 
lot of time at the table helping them understand our needs and hearing what 
they need for their members. I experience that as a valuable relationship. 
Personally, I would prefer not to see a mandate. I do not think that is how we 
have been successful running our business, but I am sensitive to the issue and 
from where it is coming. 
 
We want to be sure we provide the access you talked about, and we want to 
make sure the patient’s safety is foremost, but there is a balance in ensuring 
that quality access is available within the contractual context. We are looking 
for that balance. I want to make sure we are not stepping into areas where we 
may not have any expertise. That is why we spend time at the table talking 
with the folks with whom we have insurance contracts. We put a lot of value 
on that process and being able to have contracts at a rate that lets us maintain 
that safety net. 
 
JONATHAN LAINE, M.D., FACEP (President, Northern Nevada Emergency 

Physicians): 
Our NNEP group is the largest emergency medicine group in the State, and 
we work out of Reno covering the hospitals there. I am a practicing 
emergency physician, and after testifying today, I am on my way back to work. 
 
I share the concerns of the Committee. I deal with a lot of complaints 
from patients who have the problems you are trying to address. The 
emergency medicine system is the safety net of this State, and it is not just the 
trauma centers. Every emergency department functions as your “health,” 
“safety,” “net.” People who have no other access to care walk into the 
emergency room, and they are cared for. We take care of everybody, every day, 
all the time. 
 
If a patient comes into an urgent care with a sore throat, and you go to the 
emergency room next door with a sore throat, why are the charges different? 



Subcommittee of the Senate Committee on Health and Education 
April 3, 2009 
Page 21 
 
Here is the reason. Every patient who goes to the urgent care pays the bill at 
that time. If they cannot pay the bill, if they do not have cash or if they do not 
have insurance, they are sent to the emergency room. We provide an enormous 
amount of uncompensated care. Emergency medicine provides the 
highest amount of uncompensated care, more than any other specialty. I am 
hoping we can come up with a system that does not crush the 
emergency medicine system, the emergency rooms and the 
emergency physicians, as this is your safety net. We certainly need all the 
specialists. If S.B. 157 would go through, it would create lots of problems for 
getting enough specialists on call to back us up when we need extra expertise. 
 
DR. LAINE: 
I will make two quick points. For all physicians, the charges are the same, 
so whether you come in needing an orthopedist to fix your hip, or I am doing 
CPR on you, the charge for the entire service is the same. Our negotiations with 
insurers are about how much less than our basic charge can they negotiate with 
us. That is 10 to 20 percent off what our normal charge is, and that is what the 
insurers try to work. 
 
The other thing is the usual and customary issue. Usual and customary is a term 
made up by insurers. It is not what we consider usual and customary. When 
I get these rates, usual and customary is different depending on each region, 
each state and where you practice. If you are in an area with enormous 
amounts of uncompensated care, usual and customary is not the same as if you 
are in an area where there are lots of employed people, where there are lots of 
contracts and where everybody is insured. Some of the small towns in 
Nevada may have mining companies that insure everybody in the town. 
Usual and customary there is not going to be the same for another area. We can 
solve this problem without creating new problems. We are not that far apart. If 
we can get input from all sides—the medical providers, the health-care 
providers, the hospitals, as well as the insurance and the patient safety 
advocates—we can easily solve this. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
The way the proposed S.B. 157 reads, UMC is excluded from the bill. As you 
have already stated, trauma centers and emergency rooms have one charge. 
Should UMC be excluded, or should they be included in this process? 
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DR. LAINE: 
I am not clear why one emergency department was excluded. Whatever you are 
going to come up with, the same things applies. When I worked at an 
academic center, the charges there, even at a county hospital, were not less 
than the community hospitals. Their charges are much in line with every 
other hospital, although their collections are far lower. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Based on the geographical location, the density of the population and the 
culture within that given population, insurance companies work from 
actuarial risk. Most of them project five years, and they assess the risk based 
on those they are covering and other uncompensated costs. I am wondering, 
when they put these usual and customary charges together, do they actually 
take a look at the risk factor actuated out five years, and then come up with a 
cost they think is going to be reasonable to recoup or repay? 
 
DR. LAINE: 
I think they make them up. Each insurance company has their own definition of 
what they consider usual and customary. This is not an industry-wide standard. 
It is not even the same from company to company. It is a great way for them to 
come back to me and say, “You did CPR, and the guy was in cardiac arrest, and 
you worked on him for an hour. We think that is worth $200.” I can come up 
with a different amount, so it is not based on … . 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
There is no formula from your standpoint. 
 
DR. LAINE: 
Definitely not. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
What has been interesting about this discussion is that Senator Woodhouse 
and I are on the Senate Committee on Finance, and recently there was a 
long discussion about restoring funding for the Office for the Governor, 
Consumer Health Assistance (OCHA), which the Governor has recommended in 
the proposed budget be eliminated. When you go back to the history of why the 
office was created, it is based on the subject we are discussing today on the 
policy related to costs and the impact to the consumer around these charges. 
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When I get information about a health-care provider sending someone to 
collections for $4,500 and attaching their house as collateral in order to be paid, 
it sends up a red flag for me. People should pay their bills, but we have got to 
have a process that works and does not make people lose their assets. 
The testimony we heard at the previous hearing from the gentleman whose wife 
incurred significant medical charges, and she died, was very compelling. He was 
left with the bills, and they tried to take his home. That is part of why the 
public policy is important. I know we want to talk about the contract issue, and 
I am sensitive to that, but there is a public policy to be made here. The 
public policy is centered on ways to protect consumers. I would like to hear 
from the OCHA. 
 
PAULETTE GROMNIAK (Bureau for Hospitals, Office for Consumer Health 

Assistance, Office of the Governor): 
 My role with the OCHA is with the bureau for hospital patients. In the 
past year, our case load has increased 26.5 percent. Of that increase, 
70 percent of those cases have to deal with an out-of-network situation. The 
testimony given today has been centering on the emergency room physicians. 
I have spoken with several of them, and they are very willing to work with our 
office to help patients. But, there are other entities involved with a hospital bill 
at a contracted facility such as an anesthesiologist, a laboratory, surgeons and 
several others not so willing. There needs to be some help for the patient. Our 
role at the OCHA is to make sure the patient is made whole and does not end 
up with a $5,000 bill. We have patients with bills of $50,000 or $60,000 from 
out-of-network providers. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Do you have any suggestions for us, either today or as we continue to discuss 
this matter, about what the physician and/or the insurance company can be 
doing to educate the patient? Are there processes that can be improved that 
would help the responsibility portion of this discussion? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
Patient education is important, but when you come into an emergency room, 
you really do not have a choice. All the patient education you give is not going 
to help the patient who comes in an ambulance and in a coma. The patient 
cannot make the decision to say, “I want to see Dr. A or Dr. B.” 
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It would be great for everyone to come to the table to do just what you are 
doing right now and arrive at some sort of resolution. The patient should not be 
sicker when they leave than they were when they got there because of the bill. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
About the hardship cases I asked about earlier, is there something from a 
protocol, procedure or regulatory standpoint where working with them is 
required? In general, what is your experience with this? Are most physicians 
willing to work with people or not? What is your perspective on this? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
Most of the emergency room physicians have worked well with our office. They 
have been most cooperative in accepting a lesser rate, but we have had 
insurance companies that just stick to their guns. They are only going to pay 
you usual, customary and reasonable (UCR) charges, and pay the doctors who 
have bill charge. Some will not budge. The majority do budge and do work with 
the patients. The area where I have seen a more significant problem is with 
surgery and anesthesia. It is a significant problem. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
By significant, you feel it is around the specialties? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
Correct. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
By significant, is it more the rule than the exception where people will not work 
to discount or work with the patient? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
In the cases on which I have worked, there are many physicians who will work 
with us, but there are a few who totally stick their feet in the sand and will 
not move. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Is that information collected somewhere? Does the OCHA maintain information 
about unresolved complaints? Are those individual’s names published if they are 
not working with a patient? Is that information available somewhere, or 
transparent to the patient? 
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MS. GROMNIAK: 
No. That is not something that is transparent. I do not think we could publish 
anything like that. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Are those doctors who will not work with your office the exception or 
the norm? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
It is not the norm that a doctor will not work with us. There are a few who will 
not, and for those who will not, it is an issue. Without having anything on the 
books, it is hard to get anybody to … . There is nobody to enforce, to help. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
Those doctors that—and I am taking it that they are more the exception than 
the norm, if I am reading you correctly—those doctors that will not negotiate 
with your office on behalf of the patient, do they ever give you a reason as to 
why they do not? Is it because the margins are significantly reduced, or because 
of the patient mix, or the payer mix? Do they give you any reason why they will 
not budge? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
No, not specifically. When I first start the process of looking at a bill, what I try 
to look off of is NRS chapter 439B – “Restraining Costs of Health Care,” where 
the hospital is required to take a 30-percent discount for an uninsured person. 
I start trying to negotiate with the provider at that 30-percent discount point. 
Then, I go back to the payer source and try to get them to come up from the 
sometimes very low UCR to come somewhere in the middle. There have been 
physicians who have had bad experiences with payers, so they do not want to 
budge because of that or vice versa. There are a multitude of reasons why it 
does not happen. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
As we set policy, sometimes we try to capture the few who may be the 
exception to the rule. That might cause unintended consequences which would 
capture those who are playing the game by the rules. We want to do what is 
best. Having information from your office is necessary for us so we can narrow 
the scope of the legislation or the policy. This is going to be crucial. We do not 
want to try to capture everybody when it is not necessary to do that. 
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MS. GROMNIAK: 
Our system works off an Access database, so it is a little antiquated. I would 
say that all the hospital billing issues that come through our office have an 
out-of-network component. Of those, there are physicians who will not work 
with us; they just refuse to. Is that more the exception than the rule? I say we 
have a lot of great physicians in Nevada who will work with our office, but the 
ones who will not are really problematic. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
If I were a patient who walked into or called your office and said, 
“I had xy procedure done,” and if you asked me the doctor’s name, and I said,  
“It is Dr. Whomever,” you would probably say to yourself, “Oh, we know him or 
her;” is that right? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
There are some cases like that, yes. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
What are OCHA’s biggest problem areas? Can you provide that information to 
us today or for our subsequent subcommittee hearing? 
 
MS. GROMNIAK: 
I am sure I can get that information to you for your subcommittee meeting 
next Tuesday. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Please tell us where your biggest problem area is, and, if you have collected 
information on it, that information will help us narrow our focus. 
 
When patients come to you with complaints saying they cannot reach a 
resolution or they cannot afford to pay their bills, do you have information on 
how often you are able to reach a resolution? That is one of the tenets I am 
looking for. One of the physicians told us about the history of this two-party 
and three-party system with the patient ending up in the middle. It is really 
something between the insurance company and the medical provider. Do you 
have any information as to whether or not you reach a resolution quicker than 
patients do if they negotiate on their own? 
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MS. GROMNIAK: 
I definitely can get that statistic for you. We have a program that can look at 
that. The cases we receive are probably a drop in the bucket to the ones that 
are out there. We have heard, “I wish we have known about your office before, 
because we did not have anywhere to go.” That is another point to take in 
as well. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Your office is pretty under-resourced. You indicated you have information on 
those who were treated by a noncontracted providers compared to those who 
are contracted. If you could produce that information for the subcommittee, that 
would be helpful, too. 
 
JULES SILVER, M.D. (Regional Medical Director, Dms-Emcare): 
I am an emergency room physician practicing here in Las Vegas for over 
30 years. Our group Dms-Emcare provides emergency services for five facilities 
in Clark County. It was refreshing to hear the remarks from my colleagues 
up north, and I agree with almost everything they have said. 
 
There was a handout available when I entered the room, and I assume it has 
some ideas for the modification of S.B. 157. I am not sure who printed this. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
That is a concept paper we put out for consideration. We are not working off 
the original proposed bill. The document you have lists some of the areas, and 
there were some additional ones provided by Senator Washington, that we want 
to focus on as the discussions go forward. If you have anything to add … . 
 
DR. SILVER: 
This is very positive compared to the wording on the initial bill. The 
only comment I would like to make about the bill is it speaks about the 
insurance companies. If they have a contract with at least one hospital in the 
State, that would imply they could have a contract with one of the hospitals 
that has less than 100 beds. I wonder about the reasoning or the logic of this 
because those hospitals are not included or affected by this bill. This should be 
changed to have at least a contract in place with a hospital with greater than 
100 beds. I am not quite sure what the unintended consequences would be of 
just leaving the wording the way it is. I do not know if that has been 
thought out or addressed. I would be curious to see what the 
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Nevada Hospital Association’s feeling is on this and if there are any nuances to 
that particular wording. 
 
SENATOR WASHINGTON: 
This is addressed in the third bullet point in the document I presented earlier and 
is the handout to which you referred, Exhibit D. I will quote the last sentence in 
that paragraph, “At the very least, insurers should be required to contract with a 
significant (or at least proportional) number of hospitals within the county or 
regional area of the hospital that will be forced to take the reduced rate.” If we 
are going to do this at all, we want to include all the hospitals. 
 
DR. SILVER: 
I see. The philosophy of S.B. 157 basically is in the contract negotiation. This 
probably could be done in the private sector, so I do not really see the essence 
of the bill. I do realize there are patients who are caught—even trampled—by 
the system, and that is why you are looking at this. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
We welcome your suggestions and ideas to assist us in this. We will be 
compiling a document for our next subcommittee meeting. 
 
BILL M. WELCH (President and Chief Executive Officer, Nevada 

Hospital Association): 
First, I want to thank you for the approach you are taking on this piece of 
legislation, and we look forward to the opportunity to continue working with 
all parties on this legislation. In the end, we agree that ensuring what is in the 
best interests of the patient is what is to be accomplished. 
 
Second, I want to provide some suggestions on areas you might want to 
consider in your review as you go through this process. I appreciate the fact 
that you are looking at responsibility by all parties which suggests that we add 
the wording “in the function of accountability by all parties” to any legislation. 
 
With respect to the questions that have been raised about usual and customary, 
it would be appropriate and beneficial to understand Nevada’s laws on 
usual and customary and know who must comply with filing, and who is filing 
usual and customaries. This has been an issue for the hospital community 
for some time. We find great inconsistencies with what happens with 
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usual and customary. It is becoming more apparent to me that usual and 
customary may have an impact on this. 
 
MR. WELCH: 
I suggest we review what the driving problems are because what we are talking 
about is patients who are “falling out-of-plan.” We could get an analysis of the 
issues from the payers as to why they are having difficulties getting providers to 
contract. Maybe we can get a list of issues from the provider’s perspective as 
to why they find it difficult to come to contract terms. That would be 
particularly useful in learning how different providers handle individuals who are 
out-of-plan and have a financial hardship or difficulty. An analysis of what those 
variances are might be able to be provided through OCHA. They have that 
information for hospitals, and they may have it for the providers and the payers 
as well, even though they do not have complete authority over some of those 
other areas. 
 
It might be interesting to look at how the various payers handle the designs of 
their benefit plans. What is considered emergent care? What happens if a 
patient is out-of-plan? What are the variances between the various plans? 
What are the provider’s charity discount policies? Do insurance providers 
have similar policies to assist their enrollees? 
 
We understand the role OCHA has with hospitals. I do not know that their role 
is completely clear with regard to the physician community; there may be a 
need to know that. I know OCHA does try to intervene with the payer as well, 
but they do not have any authority in that particular category. It may 
be appropriate to look at how you would balance that with the 
Division of Insurance, Department of Business and Industry, and look at how 
you would balance that with all the payers in the community because not all 
payers necessarily fall under the authority of the Division of Insurance 
in Nevada. 
 
As we go through this process, the first result needs to be we are doing what is 
in the best interest of the patients, to protect them. Another result is we need 
to ensure that all parties have sufficient incentives, so they will continue to 
sit at the table and negotiate in good faith. 
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We have other comments about S.B. 157, but to respond to your request, we 
will focus on the points we have received today. We will drive our future input 
toward that effort. 
 
SENATOR HORSFORD: 
Those are excellent, concrete suggestions and worthy of consideration. Those 
are the kind of specifics we are looking for from all the stakeholders. Obviously, 
there is a lot of dedication on this issue. It is my intention to have another 
subcommittee meeting on Tuesday. 
 
We received a letter from Gary Gansert, M.D., an emergency physician who 
has practiced in the emergency department for 33 years at Renown. He states 
his opposition to S.B. 157 in the letter which will be entered into the 
record (Exhibit J). 
 
With no further business to come before the subcommittee of the Senate 
Committee on Health and Education, the meeting is adjourned at 6:31 p.m. 
 
 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 
 
 
 

  
Betty Ihfe, 
Committee Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
  
Senator Steven A. Horsford, Chair 
 
 
DATE:  
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